BY-LAWS

OF

BAREFOOT RESORT YACHT CLUB VILLAS CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION

1. IDENTITY

These are the By-Laws of Barefoot Yacht Club Villas Condominium Association, a non-profit corporation existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina (hereinafter called "the Association"), which has been organized for the purpose of administering Barefoot Yacht Club Villas Horizontal Property Regime, a horizontal property regime established pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §27-31-10 et seq. (1976) (hereinafter called "the Regime"). The Regime is identified by the name Barefoot Resort Yacht Club Villas and is located upon the real property in Horry County, South Carolina, described on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference.

- (a) The provisions of these By-Laws are applicable to the Regime, and the terms and provisions hereof are expressly subject to the effect of the terms, provisions, conditions, and authorizations contained in the Articles of Incorporation and which may be contained in the formal Master Deed which will be recorded in the public records of Horry County, South Carolina, at the time said property and the improvements now or thereafter situate thereon are submitted to the plan of condominium ownership, the terms and provisions of said Articles and Master Deed to be controlling whenever the same may be in conflict herewith.
- (b) All present or future co-owners, tenants, future tenants, or their employees, or any other person that might use the Regime or any of the facilities thereof in any manner are subject to the regulations set forth in these By-Laws and in said Charter and Master Deed.
- (c) The office of the Association shall be at such place as the Board of Directors of the Association may designate from time to time;
 - (d) The fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year;
- (e) The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the Association and the words "South Carolina."

2. MEMBERSHIP, VOTING, QUORUM, PROXIES

(a) The qualification of members, the manner of their admission to membership and termination of such membership, and voting by members, shall be as set forth in the Articles of

Incorporation of the Association, the provisions of which Articles are incorporated herein by reference.

- (b) The quorum at members' meetings shall consist of persons, Absentee Ballots or Proxies of co-owners entitled to cast a majority (51% of the value of the property) of the votes of the entire membership. The joinder of a member in the action of a meeting by signing and concurring in the minutes thereof shall constitute the presence of such person for the purpose of determining quorum. If any members' meeting cannot be organized because a quorum has not been attended, or because the greater percentage of the membership required to constitute a quorum for particular purposes has not attended, wherever the latter percentage of attendance may be required as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the Master Deed, the members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting, from time to time until a quorum, or the required percentage of attendance greater than a quorum, is present.
- (c) The vote of the co-owners of an Apartment owned by more than one person or by a corporation or other entity shall be cast by the person named in a certificate signed by all of the co-owners of the Apartment and filed with the Secretary of the Association. Such certificate shall be valid until revoked by subsequent certificate. If such a certificate is not on file, the vote of such co-owners shall not be considered in determining the requirement for a quorum, nor for any other purpose.
- (d) Votes may be cast in person, by Absentee Ballot or by proxy. Proxies must be filed with the secretary before the appointed time of the meeting for which their use is sought.
- (e) Approval or disapproval of an Apartment co-owner upon any matters, whether or not the subject of an Association meeting, shall be by the same person who casts the vote of such co-owner in an Association meeting.
- (f) Except where otherwise required under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, these By-Laws, the Master Deed, or where the same may otherwise be required by law, the affirmative vote of the co-owners of a majority of the Apartments represented at any duly called members' meeting at which a quorum is present shall be binding upon the members.

3. ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETINGS OF MEMBERSHIP

(a) The annual members' meeting shall be held at the office of the Association or such other place as may be designated by the Board of Directors, at 12:00 noon, Eastern Daylight Time, on the third Saturday in August, of each year, or at such other date and time as set by the

Board of Directors after proper notice for the purpose of electing directors and of transacting any other business authorized to be transacted by the members; provided, however, that if that day is a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held at the same hour on the next succeeding Saturday. The first annual meeting shall be held in 2006.

- (b) Special members' meetings shall be held whenever called by the President or Vice President or by a majority of the Board of Directors and must be called by such officers upon receipt of a written request from the members of the Association owning a majority of the Apartments.
- (c) Notice of all members' meetings, regular or special, shall be given by the President, Vice President, or Secretary of the Association, or other officers of the Association in the absence of said officers, to each member, unless waived, in writing. Such notice is to be written or printed and shall include a description of any matter as required by §33-31-705, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended, and shall state the time and place of the member's meeting and shall be given to each member not less than ten (10) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date set for such meeting. Notice shall be mailed first class or registered mail or presented personally to each member within said time. If presented personally, receipt of such notice shall be signed by the member, indicating the date on which such notice was received by him. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed properly given five (5) days after being deposited in the United States Mail, addressed to the member at his post office address as it appears in the records of the Association, the postage thereon prepaid or where otherwise provided by Section 33-31-141 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended from time to time. Proof of such mailing shall be given by Affidavit of the person giving the notice. Any member may, by written waiver of notice signed by such member, waive such notice, and such waiver, when filed in the records of the Association, whether before or after the holding of the meeting, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice to such member. If any members' meeting cannot be organized because a quorum has not been attended, or because the greater percentage of the membership required to constitute a quorum for particular purposes has not attended, wherever the latter percentage of attendance may be required as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the Master Deed, the members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting, from time to time until a quorum, or the required percentage of attendance greater than a quorum, is present.

- (d) At meetings of membership, the President shall preside or, in the absence of him the Vice President, or, in the absence of him, the membership present shall select a chairman.
- (e) The order of business at annual members' meeting, and, as far as practical, at any other members' meeting, shall be:
 - i) Calling of the roll and certifying absentee ballots and proxies;
 - ii) Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice;
 - iii) Reading of Minutes;
 - iv) Reports of officers, president and chief financial officer;
 - v) Reports of committees;
 - vi) Appointment by chairman of inspectors of election;
 - vii) Election of directors;
 - viii) Unfinished business;
 - ix) New business; and
 - x) Adjournment.

4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(a) The initial Board of Directors of the Association (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Board") shall be comprised of three (3) directors until the first members' meeting, at which time five (5) directors will be elected. Thereafter, the Board shall consist of five (5) directors. Subject to the remainder of this paragraph, the Grantor may appoint and remove members of the Board during the period of Grantor control and for a period not exceeding five (5) years from the date of the first conveyance of an Apartment to a person other than the Grantor. The period of Grantor control terminates no later than sixty (60) days after conveyance of seventy-five percent (75%) of the Apartments in the entire Regime (all Phases) to Apartment owners other than the Grantor. The Grantor may voluntarily surrender the right to appoint and remove members of the Board before termination of that time period.

Whenever Grantor shall be entitled to designate and select any person or persons to serve on any Board of Directors of Association, the manner in which such person or persons shall be designated shall be as provided in the Articles of Incorporation and/or By-Laws of the Association and Grantor shall have the right to remove any person or persons selected by it to act and serve on said Board of Directors and to replace such person or persons with another person or other persons to act and serve in the place of any director or directors so removed for the remainder of the unexpired term of any director or directors so removed. Any director designated and selected by Grantor need not be a resident in the Regime. Anything to the contrary

notwithstanding, the power in the Grantor to designate directors shall terminate five years from the date of the Master Deed.

Any representative of Grantor serving on the Board shall not be required to disqualify himself upon any vote upon any management contract or other matter between Grantor and Association where the said Grantor may have a pecuniary or other interest. Similarly, Grantor as a member of the Association, shall not be required to disqualify itself in any vote which may come before the membership of the Association upon any management contract or other matter between Grantor and Association where Grantor may have a pecuniary or other interest. This provision does not limit or restrict the requirement of Section 33-31-831, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended.

An individual Co-owner other than Grantor engaged by the Regime in a commercial operation or otherwise earning monies from servicing the premises, i.e. rental company, contractor, hardware store, painter, or property manager may not serve on the Board as long as the individual is engaged in a business performing a service in connection with the Regime.

- (b) Election of directors shall be conducted in the following manner:
- i) Grantor, as Sponsor of the Regime, shall, at the beginning of the election of the Board designate and select that number of the members of the Board which it should be entitled to designate and select in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws, and upon such designation and selection by Grantor by written instrument presented to the meeting at which such election is held, said individuals so designated and selected by Grantor shall be deemed and considered for all purposes directors of the Association, and shall thenceforth perform the duties of such directors until their successors shall have been selected or elected in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws;
- ii) All members of the Board whom Grantor shall not be entitled to designate and select under the terms and provisions of these By-Laws shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the annual meeting of the members of the Association immediately following the designation and selection of the members of the Board whom Grantor shall be entitled to designate and select;
- iii) Vacancies in the Board may be filled until the date of the next annual meeting by the remaining directors, except that should any vacancy in the Board be created in any directorship previously filled by a person designated and selected by Grantor, such vacancy shall be filled by Grantor designating and selecting, by written instrument delivered to any officer of the Association, the successor director to fill the vacated directorship for the unexpired term

thereof:

- iv) At the first annual meeting of the members held after the property identified herein has been submitted to the plan of condominium ownership, the Master Deed has been recorded in the public records of Horry County, South Carolina, the term of office of the two (2) directors receiving the highest plurality of votes shall be established as three (3) years, the terms of office of the other two (2) directors receiving the next highest plurality of votes shall be established at two (2) years and the terms of office of the remaining one (1) director shall be established as one (1) year. Thereafter, as many directors of the Association shall be elected at the annual meeting as there are regular terms of office of directors expiring at such time, and the term of the directors so elected at the annual meeting of the members each year shall be for three (3) years expiring at the third annual meeting following their election, and thereafter until their successors are duly elected and qualified or until removed in the manner elsewhere provided or as may be provided by law for the removal of directors of South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act. If, at the time of the first annual meeting, Grantor still has the right to appoint directors. then Grantor shall have the right to designate and select two (2) directors whose term of office shall be established at two (2) years, and one (1) director whose term of office shall be established at one year;
- v) In the election of directors, there shall be appurtenant to each Apartment as many votes for directors as there are directors to be elected, provided, however, that no member or co-owner of any Apartment may cast more than one vote for any person nominated as director, it being the intent hereof that voting for directors shall be non-cumulative;
- vi) In the event that Grantor, in accordance with the privilege granted unto it, selects any person or persons to serve on any Board, the said Grantor shall have the absolute right at any time, in its sole discretion, to replace any such person or persons with another person or persons to serve on said Board. Replacement of any person or persons designated by Grantor to serve on any Board shall be made by written instrument delivered to the President or Secretary of the Association or to the presiding officer of the Board, which instrument shall specify the name or names of the person or persons designated as successor or successors to the person or persons so removed from said Board. The removal of any director and designation of his successor shall be effective immediately upon delivery of such written instrument by Grantor to such officer of the Association and the director;
- (c) The organizational meeting of newly elected Board shall be held within ten (10) days of its election, at such time and at such place as shall be fixed by the directors at the meeting at

which they were elected, and no further notice of the organization meeting shall be necessary provided a quorum shall be present;

- (d) Regular meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by a majority of the directors;
- (e) Special meetings of the directors may be called by the President and must be called by the Secretary at the written request of one-third (1/3) of the votes of the Board or upon written petition signed by the Co-owners of one-third (1/3) of the Apartments. Not less than two (2) days notice of a meeting shall be given to each director personally, or by mail, telephone, or telegram, which notice shall state the time, place, and purpose of the meeting;
- (f) Any director may waive notice of a meeting before or after the meeting and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of notice;
- (g) A quorum at a directors' meeting shall consist of the directors present in person and/or via teleconference, entitled to cast a majority of the votes of the entire Board. The acts of the Board approved by a majority of the votes present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the acts of the Board, except as specifically otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the Master Deed. If any director's meeting cannot be organized because a quorum has not attended or because the greater percentage of the directors required to constitute a quorum for particular purposes has not attended, wherever the latter percentage of attendance may be required as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the Master Deed, the directors who are present may adjourn the meeting, from time to time, until a quorum, or the required percentage of attendance greater than a quorum, is present. At any adjourned meeting, any business which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called may be transacted without further notice. The joinder of a director in the action of a meeting by signing and concurring the minutes thereof shall constitute the presence of such director for the purpose of determining a quorum;
- (h) The presiding officer of directors' meetings shall be the President. In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall preside, or, in the absence of him the directors present shall designate one of their number to preside;
 - (i) Directors shall receive no remuneration for serving in their capacity as Director;
- (j) The Board shall manage and direct the affairs of the Association and subject to any restrictions imposed by law, by the Master Deed, or these By-Laws, may exercise all of the powers of the Association subject only to approval by the members when such is specifically required of these By-Laws. The Board shall exercise such duties and responsibilities as shall be

incumbent upon it by law, the Master Deed, or these By-Laws, as it may deem necessary or appropriate in the exercise of its powers and shall include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following:

- i) To make, levy, and collect assessments against members and members' Apartments to defray the cost of the common areas and facilities of the Regime, and to use the proceeds of said assessments in the exercise of the powers and duties granted unto the Association;
- ii) To carry out the maintenance, care, upkeep, repair, replacements, operation, surveillance, and the management of the general and limited common elements, services, and facilities of the Regime wherever the same is required to be done and accomplished by the Association for the benefit of its members;
- iii) To carry out the reconstruction of improvements after casualty and the further improvement of the property, real and personal;
- iv) To make and amend regulations, after Notice, governing the administration of the business affairs of the Association and the use of the property, real and personal, in the Regime and to establish fines for the violation of same, so long as such regulations or amendments thereto and fines do not conflict with the restrictions and limitations which may be placed upon the use of such property under the terms of the Articles of Incorporation and Master Deed;
- v) To acquire, operate, lease, manage, and otherwise trade and deal with property, real and personal, including Apartments in the Regime, as may be necessary or convenient in the operation and management of the Regime, and in accomplishing the purposes set forth in the Master Deed; provided, however, that any agreement for professional management of the Regime, or any other contract providing for services of the Grantor, may not exceed three (3) years. Any such agreement must provide for termination by either party with cause and without payment of a termination fee on ninety (90) days or less written notice;
- vi) By competitive bidding, to contract for the management of the business of the Regime and the common areas and facilities in the Regime and to designate to such contractor all of the powers and duties of the Association, except those which may be required by the Master Deed to have approval of the Board or membership of the Association;
 - vii) To enforce by legal means the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and

By-Laws of the Association, the Master Deed, and the regulations and fines hereinafter promulgated governing use of the property in the Regime;

- viii) To pay all taxes and assessments which are liens against any property of the Regime, other than Apartments and the appurtenances thereto, and to assess the same against the members and their respective Apartments subject to such liens;
- ix) To carry insurance for the protection of the members and the Association against casualty and liability;
- x) To pay all costs of power, water, sewer, and other utility services rendered to the condominium and not billed to the owners of the separate Apartments; and
- xi) To employ personnel for reasonable compensation to perform the services required for proper administration of the purposes of the Association, as well as to dismiss said personnel; and
- xii) To assign, reassign, or designate parking spaces for exclusive use to such Co-Owners as it shall decide and to revoke such assignment or designation from time to time.
- (k) The first Board shall be comprised of three (3) persons designated to act and serve as directors in the Articles of Incorporation. Said persons shall serve until their successors are elected or appointed at the first meeting of the members of the Association called after the property identified herein has been submitted to the plan of condominium ownership and the Master Deed has been recorded in the public records of Horry County, South Carolina. Should any member of said first Board be unable to serve for any reason, a majority of the remaining members of the Board shall have the right to select and designate a party to act and serve as a director for the unexpired term of said director who is unable to serve;
- (I) The undertakings and contracts authorized by said first Board shall be binding upon the Association in the same manner as though such undertakings and contracts had been authorized by the first Board duly elected by the membership after the property identified herein has been submitted to the plan of condominium ownership and said Master Deed has been recorded in the Horry County public records, so long as any undertakings and contracts are within the scope of powers and duties which may be exercised by the Board in accordance with all applicable Regime Documents;
- (m) Directors may be removed from office in the manner provided by law for the removal of directors of South Carolina nonprofit corporations.
- 6. <u>ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS ABOUT MEETINGS OF MEMBERS AND DIRECTORS</u>

- (a) Notwithstanding anything contained in these By-Laws to the contrary, any meeting of members or Board may be held at any place within or without the State of South Carolina or by telephone conference.
- (b) To the extent now or from time to time hereafter permitted by the laws of South Carolina, the Board may take any action which they might take at a meeting of directors without a meeting. One or more written consents of any such action so taken, signed by each director, is to be retained in the Association's minute book and given equal dignity by all persons to the minutes of meetings duly called and held.
- (c) Any action of the members may be taken by written ballot in accordance with §33-31-704, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended, or by written consent in accordance with §33-31-704 of said Code.

7. OFFICERS

- (a) The executive officers of the Association shall be a President, who shall be a director, a Vice President, a Treasurer, and a Secretary, all of whom shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors and who may be peremptorily removed by vote of the directors at any meeting. No person may hold more than two (2) offices. The Board, shall from time to time, elect such other officers or committees and designate their powers and duties as the Board shall find to be required to manage the affairs of the Association.
- (b) The President shall be the principal executive officer of the Corporation and subject to the control of the Board. He or she shall, in general, supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Corporation. He or she shall preside at all meetings of the shareholders and of the Board. He or she may sign, with the Secretary or any other proper officer of the Corporation authorized by the Board, any deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board or by these By-Laws to some other officer or agent of the Association, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board.
- (c) The Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the President, exercise the powers and perform the duties of President. He shall also generally assist the President and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the directors.
- (d) The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all proceedings of the directors and the members. He shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices to the members and directors,

and such other notices required by law. He shall have custody of the seal of the Association and affix the same to instruments requiring a seal when duly signed. He shall keep the records of the Association, except those of the Treasurer, perform all other duties incident to the office of Secretary of any association, and as may be required by the directors or the President.

- (e) The Treasurer shall have custody of all of the property of the Association, including funds, securities, and evidences of indebtedness. He shall keep the assessment rolls, the accounts of members, and the books of the Association in accordance with good accounting practices. He shall perform all other duties incident to the office of Treasurer.
- (f) The compensation of all employees of the Association shall be fixed by the Board. This provision shall not preclude the Board from employing the Grantor as an employee of the Association, nor preclude the contracting with the Grantor for management of the Regime. Officers shall receive no compensation.

8. FISCAL MANAGEMENT

The provisions for fiscal management of the Association set forth in the Master Deed and Articles of Incorporation shall be supplemented by the following provisions:

- (a) The assessment roll shall be maintained in a set of accounting books in which there shall be an account for each Apartment. Such an account shall designate the name and address of the Co-owner or Co-owners, the amount of each assessment against the amounts paid upon the account and, the balance due upon assessments;
- (b) The initial Board shall adopt a budget for the period commencing upon submission of the property to Horizontal Property Regime, continuing through the end of the following calendar year, and shall establish assessments for that period;
- (c) The Board shall adopt a budget for each calendar year, which shall contain estimates of the cost of performing the functions of the Association, including, but not limited to, the following items:
- i) Common expense budget, which shall include without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the estimated amounts necessary for maintenance and operation of General Common Elements, landscaping, parking areas, street and walkways, office expenses, utility services, casualty insurance, liability insurance, administration, and reserves (operating and replacement); and
- ii) Proposed assessments against each member. Copies of the budget and proposed assessments shall be given to each member at each annual meeting. If the budget is subsequently amended before the assessments are made, a copy of the amended budget shall be

furnished to each concerned member. Delivery of a copy of any budget or amended budget to each member shall not affect the liability of any member for any such assessment, nor shall delivery of a copy of such budget of amended budget be considered as a condition precedent to the effectiveness of said budget and assessments levied pursuant thereto, and nothing herein contained shall be construed as restricting the right of the Board, at any time, in their sole discretion to levy an additional assessment in the event that the budget originally adopted shall appear to be insufficient to pay costs and expenses of operation and management, or in the event of emergencies.

- (d) The Board shall determine the method of payment of such assessments and the due dates thereof and shall notify the members thereof. The assessments will initially be on a monthly-in-advance basis unless changed by a vote of the majority of the Board;
- (e) The depository of the Association shall be such bank, savings and loan, or other Federally Insured depositories as shall be designated from time to time by the directors and in which the monies of the Association shall be deposited. Withdrawal of monies from such accounts shall be only by checks signed by such persons as are authorized by the directors.
- (f) The Board shall require fidelity bonds from all officers and employees of the Association and from any contractor handling or responsible for Association funds. The amount of such bonds shall be determined by the directors, but shall be at least the amount of the total annual estimated operating expense and revenues. The premiums on such bonds shall be paid by the Association as a common expense.

9. PARLIAMENTARY RULES

Roberts Rules of Order (latest edition) shall govern the conduct of corporate proceedings when not in conflict with the Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws or with the statutes of the State of South Carolina.

10. ASSESSMENTS: L(ABILITY, <u>LIEN AND ENFORCEMENT</u>

The Board, as and for the co-owners, is given the authority to administer the operation and management of the Regime, it being recognized that the delegation of such duties to one entity is in the best interests of the co-owners of all Apartments. To properly administer the operation and management of the project, the Association will incur, for the mutual benefit of all of the co-owners of Apartments, costs and expenses which will be continuing or non-recurring costs, as the case may be, which costs and expenses are sometimes herein referred to as "common expense." To provide the funds necessary for such proper operation and management, the said Board is hereby granted the right to make, levy, and collect assessments against the co-owners of

all Apartments and said Apartments. In furtherance of said grant of authority to the Board to make, levy, and collect assessments to pay the costs and expenses for the operation and management of the Regime, the following provisions shall be operative and binding upon the co-owners of all Apartments, to wit:

- (a) All assessments levied against the co-owners of Apartments and said Apartments shall be uniform and, unless specifically otherwise provided for in these By-Laws, the assessments made by the Board shall be in such proportion that the amount of assessment levied against each co-owner of an Apartment and his Apartment shall bear the same ratio to the total assessment made against all co-owners of Apartments and their Apartments as does the undivided interest in General Common Elements appurtenant to each Apartment bear to the total undivided interest in the Regime;
- (b) The Board, in establishing said annual budget for operation, management, and maintenance of the project shall include therein a sum to be collected and maintained as reserve fund for replacement of General Common Elements, which reserve fund shall be for the purpose of enabling the Association to replace structural elements and mechanical equipment constituting a part of the General Common Elements as well as the replacement of personal property which may constitute a portion of the General Common Elements held for the joint use and benefit of all the co-owners of all Apartments. The amount to be allocated to such reserve fund for replacements shall be established by said Board so as to accrue and maintain at all times a sum reasonably necessary to anticipate the need for replacements of said General Common Elements. The amount collected and allocated to the reserve fund for replacements from time to time shall be maintained in a separate account by the Association, although nothing herein contained shall prohibit the Association from applying any monies in such reserve fund for replacements to meet other needs or requirements of the Association in operating or managing the project in the event of emergencies or in the event the sums collected from the co-owners of Apartments are insufficient to meet the then fiscal financial requirements of the Association, but it shall not be a requirement that these monies be used for such latter purposes, as a separate assessment may be levied therefor if deemed to be preferable by the Board in the sole discretion of said Board. In the event monies from the reserve fund are utilized to cover any insufficiency in the operations of the Association, then said amount utilized shall be replaced either by special assessment or be an increase in the following year's budget;
- (c) Additionally, a working capital fund must be established for the initial months of the project operation equal to at least a two months' estimated common area charge for each

Apartment. Each Apartment's share of the working capital fund must be collected and transferred to the Association at the time of both the initial closing and upon every subsequent transfer of title of each Apartment estate and maintained for the use and benefit of the Association. The contribution to the working capital fund for each unsold Apartment shall be paid to the Association by the buyer within sixty (60) days after the date of the conveyance of any Apartment in the project. The purpose of the fund is to ensure that the Association will have cash available to meet unforeseen expenditures or to acquire additional equipment or services deemed necessary or desirable by the Board. Amounts paid into the fund are not to be considered as advance payment of regular assessments. The Grantor shall not use the working capital funds to pay any of its expenses, reserve contributions, construction costs, or to make up any budget deficits while it is in control of the Association. However, when unsold Apartments are sold, the Grantor may reimburse itself for funds it paid the Association for an unsold Apartment's share of the working capital fund by using funds collected at Closing when the Apartment is sold;

- (d) The Board, in establishing said annual budget for operation, management, and maintenance of the project, shall include therein a sum to be collected as a general operating reserve which shall be used to provide a measure of financial stability during periods of special stress when such sums may be used to meet deficiencies existing from time to time as a result of delinquent payment of assessments by co-owners of Apartments, emergencies, or other reasons placing financial stress upon the Association;
- (e) All monies collected by the Association shall be treated as the separate property of the Association and such monies may be applied by the said Association to the payment of any expense of operating and managing the Regime or to the proper undertaking of all acts and duties imposed upon it by virtue of these By-Laws and the Articles of Incorporation and Master Deed of the said Association. As the monies for any assessment are paid unto the Association by any co-owner of an Apartment the same may be commingled with the monies paid to the Association by the other Co-owners of Apartments. All funds and other assets of the Association, and any increments thereto or profits derived therefrom or from the leasing or use of General Common Elements, shall be held for the benefit of the members of the Association, who shall own any common surplus in the proportions of their percentage of undivided interest in the Regime. No member of the Association shall have the right to assign, hypothecate, pledge, or in any manner transfer this interest therein, except as an appurtenance to his Apartment;
- (f) The payment of any assessment or installment thereof due to the Association shall be in default if such assessment, or any installment thereof, is not paid unto the Association on or

before the due dates for such payment. When in default, the Board may accelerate the remaining installments of the annual assessment upon notice thereof to the Apartment co-owner, whereupon the entire unpaid balance of the annual assessment shall become due upon the date stated in the notice which shall not be less than ten (10) days after the date of the notice. In the event any assessment, installment, or accelerated assessments are not paid within twenty (20) days after their due date, the Association, through its Board, may proceed to enforce and collect the said assessments against the Apartment co-owner owing the same in any manner provided for by the Act, including the right of foreclosure and sale. When in default, the delinquent assessment or delinquent installment thereof due to the Association shall bear interest at the highest rate allowed by law until such delinquent assessment or installment thereof and all interest due thereon has been paid to the Association. If any assessment or installment thereof is not paid when due, the Board may assess such late fees and interest as it deems appropriate from time to time;

- (g) The co-owner or co-owners of each Apartment shall be personally liable to the Association for the payment of all assessments, regular or special, which may be levied by the Association while such party or parties are co-owner or co-owners of an Apartment in the Regime. In the event that any co-owner or co-owners are in default in payment of any assessment or installment thereof owed to the Association, such co-owner or co-owners of any Apartment shall be personally liable for interest and late fees on such delinquent assessment or installment thereof as above provided, and for all costs of collecting such assessment or installment thereof and interest thereon, including a reasonable attorney's fee and any extra fees charged by Management to pursue said delinquency, whether suit is brought or not.
- (h) No co-owner may exempt himself from liability for any assessment levied against such co-owner and his Apartment by waiver of the use or enjoyment of any of the General Common Elements, by abandonment, or in any other manner or for any other reason whatsoever.
- (i) Recognizing that the necessity for providing proper operation and management of the project entails the continuing payment of costs and expenses therefor which results in benefit to all of the co-owners of Apartments and that the payment of such common expense represented by the assessments levied and collected by the Association is necessary in order to preserve and protect the investment of the co-owner of each Apartment, the Association is hereby granted a lien upon such Apartment and its appurtenant undivided interest in General Common Elements, which lien shall secure and does secure the monies due for all assessments now or hereafter levied against the co-owner of each Apartment, such lien shall also secure interest, and late fees,

if any, which may be due on the amount of any delinquent assessments owing to the Association and all costs and expenses, including a reasonable attorney's fee and any other costs of collection, which may be incurred by the Association in enforcing this lien upon said Apartment and its appurtenant undivided interest in the General Common Elements. The lien granted to the Association may be foreclosed in the same manner as mortgages may be foreclosed in the State of South Carolina. In any suit for the foreclosure of said lien, the Association shall be entitled to rental from the co-owner of any Apartment from the date on which the payment of any assessment or installment thereof became delinquent and shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver for said Apartment. The rental required to be paid shall be equal to the rental charged on comparable type of Apartments in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The lien granted to the Association shall further secure such advances for taxes and payments on account of superior mortgages, liens, or encumbrances which may be required to be advanced by the Association in order to preserve and protect its lien. The Association shall further be entitled to interest at the highest rate allowed by law on any such advance made for such purpose. All persons, firms, or corporations who shall acquire, by whatever means, any interest in the ownership of any Apartment, are hereby placed on notice of the lien granted to Association and shall acquire such interest in any Apartment expressly subject to such lien. The lien shall be subordinate to all mortgages or other liens duly recorded prior to the filing of the lien encumbering the Apartment;

- (j) The lien herein granted unto Association shall be effective from and after the time of recording in the public records of Horry County, South Carolina, a claim of lien stating the description of the Apartment encumbered thereby, the name of the record co-owner, the amount, and the date when due. The lien shall include only assessments which are due and payable when the claim of lien is recorded, plus interest, costs, attorney fees, advances to pay taxes and prior encumbrances, and interest thereon, all as above provided. Such claims of lien shall be signed and verified by an officer or agent of the Association. Upon full payment of all sums secured by such claim of lien, the same shall be satisfied of record;
- (k) In the event that any person, firm, or corporation shall acquire title to any Apartment and its appurtenant undivided interest in General Common Elements by virtue of any foreclosure, judicial sale, or deed in lieu of foreclosure, such person, firm, or corporation so acquiring title shall be liable and obligated for assessments as shall accrue and become due and payable for said Apartment and its appurtenant undivided interest in General Common Elements both prior to and subsequent to the date of acquisition of such title and shall be liable for the payment of any assessments which were in default and delinquent at the time it acquires such

title;

- (I) Whenever any Apartment may be sold or mortgaged by the co-owner thereof, which sale shall be concluded only upon compliance with other provisions of these By-Laws, Association, upon written request of the co-owner of such Apartment, shall furnish a statement verifying the status of payment of any assessment which shall be due and payable to Association by the owner of such Apartment to the proposed purchaser or mortgagee. Such statement shall be executed by an officer of the Association and any purchaser or mortgagee may rely upon such statement in concluding the proposed purchase or mortgage transaction, as Association shall be bound by such statement. Any holder of any mortgage on any Apartment shall have the right at all reasonable times and frequency to inquire as to the past due status of any assessment payments. The Association shall, upon request, promptly notify any such mortgagee when any assessment payment becomes more than sixty (60) days past due or when any default in the performance of any obligation required by the Master Deed or these By-Laws as to such Apartment is not cured within sixty (60) days;
- (m) In the event that an Apartment is to be sold or mortgaged at the time when payment of any assessment against the co-owner of said Apartment is due to the Association, such Apartment shall be in default, whether or not a claim of lien has been recorded by the Association. Then the proceeds of such purchase or mortgage shall be applied by the purchaser or mortgagee first to payment of any then delinquent assessment or installment thereof due to the Association before the payment of any proceeds of purchase or mortgage proceeds to the co-owner of any Apartment who is responsible for payment of such delinquent assessment;
- (n) Institution of a suit at law to attempt to effect the collection of payment of delinquent assessments shall not be deemed to be an election by the Association which shall prevent its thereafter seeking enforcement of the collection of any sums remaining owing to it by foreclosure, nor shall proceeding by foreclosure to attempt to effect such collection be deemed an election precluding the institution of suit at law to attempt to effect collection of any sums then remaining owing it; and
- (o) Assessments begin to accrue once the Master Deed for the Regime is recorded at the Horry County ROD Office. With regard to additional Phases of the Regime, assessments begin to accrue once the Amendment to the Master Deed adding the additional Phase to the Regime is recorded at the Horry County ROD Office.

11. MANAGER

(a) Employment. The Board may employ a professional Manager to assist in or take

charge of the administration of the Council and the Property. The Board shall solicit competitive bids for such management.

- (b) <u>Authority and Duties</u>. The Board of Directors may delegate to the manager, subject to the Board's supervision, all of the powers granted to the Board of Directors and/or the individual officers thereof by these Bylaws. The Manager shall have such authority and duties as may be determined by the Board and shall report to the Board or to the President, as the Board may determine.
- (c) <u>Compensation</u>. The Manager shall receive such compensation as the Board may determine.

12. <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

The definitions contained in § 27-31-20 S. C. Code Ann. (1976), are hereby incorporated herein and made a part hereof by reference. The words "Villa" and "Unit" shall have the same meaning as "Apartment".

13. CONFLICTS

In the event of any conflict between the provisions of the Master Deed and the provisions of these By-Laws, the provisions of the Master Deed shall control.

14. SEVERABILITY

The provisions of these By-Laws are severable, and the invalidity of one or more provisions thereof shall not be deemed to impair or affect in any manner the enforceability or effect of the remainder hereof.

15. CAPTIONS

The captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and or reference and in no way define, limit, or describe the scope of these By-Laws or the intent of any provision hereof.

16. GENDER AND NUMBER

All pronouns used herein shall be deemed to include the masculine, the feminine, and the neuter, as well as and the singular and the plural whenever the context requires or permits.

17. <u>AMENDMENT TO BY-LAWS</u>

Amendments to these By-Laws shall be proposed and adopted in the following manner:

- (a) Amendments to these By-Laws may be proposed by the Board acting upon vote of the majority of the directors, or by members of the Association owning a majority of the total value of the property in the Regime, whether meeting as members or by instrument in writing signed by them;
 - (b) Upon any amendment or amendments to these By-Laws being proposed by said

Board or members, such proposed amendment or amendments shall be transmitted to the President of the Association, or other officer of the Association in absence of the President, who shall thereupon call a special joint meeting of the members of the Board and the membership for a date not sooner than twenty (20) days or later than sixty (60) days from receipt by such officer of the proposed amendment or amendments, and it shall be the duty of the Secretary to give to each member written or printed notice of such meeting in the same form and in the same manner as notice of the call of a special meeting of the members is required as set forth herein;

- (c) In order for amendment or amendments to become effective, the same must be approved by an affirmative vote of the members owning a majority of the total value of the property in the Regime. Thereupon, such amendment or amendments to these By-Laws shall be transcribed, certified by the Secretary of the Association, and a copy thereof recorded in the public records of Horry County, South Carolina, within ten (10) days from the date on which any amendment or amendments have been affirmatively approved by the directors and members. The Grantor may amend the By-Laws as necessary to add Phase II and Phase III of the Regime as provided in the Master Deed without the approval of the members;
- (d) At any meeting held to consider such amendment or amendments to the By-Laws, the written vote of any member of the Association shall be recognized if such member is not in attendance at such meeting or represented there by proxy, provided such written vote is delivered to the Secretary of the Association at or prior to such meeting; and
- (e) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article, no amendment to these By-Laws which shall abridge, amend or alter the right of The Grantor to designate and select members of the Board, as provided in Article 4 hereof, may be adopted or become effective without the prior written consent of the Grantor.

18. RIGHT TO NOTICE AND COMMENT.

Before the Board adopts or amends Rules, whenever the Master Deed or By Laws or Articles of Incorporation require that an action be taken after "Notice and Comment," and at any other time the Board determines, the Co-owners have the right to receive notice of the proposed action and the right to comment orally or in writing. Notice of the proposed action shall be given to each Co-owner in writing and shall be delivered personally or by mail to all Co-owners at such address as appears in the records of the Association or published in a newsletter or similar publication routinely circulated to all Co-owners. The notice shall be given not less than five (5) days before the proposed action is to be taken. It shall invite comment to the Board orally or in writing before the scheduled time of the meeting. The right to Notice and Comment does not

entitle a Co-owner to be heard at a formally constituted meeting.

19. RIGHT TO NOTICE AND HEARING.

Whenever the Master Deed or By Laws or Articles of Incorporation require that an action be taken after "Notice and Hearing," the following procedure shall be observed: The party proposing to take the action (e.g., the Board, a committee, an officer, the Manager, etc.) shall give written notice of the proposed action to all Co-owners or Occupants of Apartments whose interest would be significantly affected by the proposed action. The notice shall include a general statement of the proposed action and the date, time, and place of the hearing. At the hearing, the affected person shall have the right, personally or by a representative, to give testimony orally, in writing, or both (as specified in the notice), subject to reasonable rules of procedure established by the party conducting the meeting to assure a prompt and orderly resolution of the issues. Such evidenced shall be considered in making the decision, but shall not bind the decision makers. The affected person shall be notified of the decision in the same manner in which notice of the meeting was given. Failure to provide such notice shall not invalidate any action taken.

20. APPEALS.

Any person having a right to Notice and Hearing shall have the right to appeal to the Board from a decision of persons other than the Board by filing a written notice of appeal with the Board within ten (10) days after being notified of the decision. The Board shall conduct a hearing and render their decision regarding the appeal within thirty (30) days of receipt of the notice of appeal and such decision shall be final.

The	foregoing	İS	the	original	set	of	By-Lav	vs ad	opted	this		day	of
 	, 200	06.											
			<u>-</u> :										
			Sec	retary of	Bare	foot	Resort	Yacht	Club	Villas	Cond	omini	um

Association